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U.S. D ISTRICT  CCIl R T  

w TIERUNITED STATESD I S T R ~ ~  
FOR THENORTHERN DISTRICT 

DALLAS DMSION 
% .  SEP 2 6 2UD7 

. . > . .  

SECURITIESAND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ) . 
) 

vs. ) Civil Action No. 

Phillip W. Offill, Jr., 

David B. Stocker, 

Curtis-Case, Inc., 

Shane A. Mullholand, 

Ryan M. Reynolds, 

Timothy T. Page, 

Steven P. Fischer, 

RSMR Capital Group, Inc. 

Dissemination Services, L.L.C., 

Page Properties, L.P., 

ATN Enterprises, L.L.C., 


Defendants, and 
Timothy B. Barham, 
Ballad Enterprises, Inc., 
Bellatalia, L.P., 

Relief Defendants. 

COMPLAINT 

The Plaintiff Securities Exchange Commission ("Commission") alleges: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The federal securities laws require persons who offer and sell securities of a public 

company to file a registration statement for those transactions in order to provide information to 

investors about the business operations and financial condition of the company. Persons who 

purchase shares from a company with a view to offer or sell the shares for the company in 
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connection with a distribution of the company's securities, are "underwriters," whose securities 

transactions must be registered. 

2. Rule 504 adopted as part of Regulation D, 17 C.F.R. 5 230.501 et seq. (1999), exempts 

limited offerings and sales of securities that do not exceed $1,000,000, if, among other things, 

the offers and sales are made according to state law exemptions from registration so long as sales 

are made only to accredited investors. However, the accredited investor exemption under Texas 

law is not available to purchasers who acquire securities with a view to or for sale in connection 

with a distribution of securities. Under Texas law applicable during the time period covered by 

this complaint, any resale of a security made in reliance on the accredited investor exemption 

within twelve months of receipt from the issuer is presumed to be with a new to distribution and 

is not exempt ffom the registration provisions. 

3. During 2004, the defendants participated in a scheme to evade the registration 

requirements of the federal securities laws by offering and selling the securities of six companies 

to the public when no registration statements were in effect for their sales transactions. Texas 

residents Shane A. Mullholand ("Mullholand"), Ryan M. Reynolds ("'Reynolds"), and Timothy 

T. Page ("Page") located companies that were interested in raising money by selling shares to 

investors through the public stock markets, and introduced them to defendant David B. Stocker 

("Stocker"), an Arizona attorney specializing in securities law. 

4. Stocker drafted corporate resolutions, subscription agreements, legal opinions, and other 

documents designed to give the appearance that the companies' offers of shares were limited to 

accredited investors. These investors included Page and companies controlled by Mullholand, 

Reynolds, or Phillip W. Offill, Jr. ("Offill"), who purported to hold the securities for investment. 
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5. In fact, Page, Mullholand, Reynolds, Offill, Stocker, and entities under their control acted 

as underwriters of the offerings. They purchased shares directly or indirectly from one or more 

of the six companies with a view to distributing the shares to the public and immediately resold 

the shares to public investors. No registration statements gving investors information about the 

business operations of the companies were filed or in effect for these transactions. These 

defendants' offers and sales of shares to public investors were the primary means through which 

Stocker, Page, Mullholand and Reynolds intended to finance and, to a limited extent, did finance 

the six companies. 

6. Stockerwas to receive shares from each of the six companies as compensation for his 

legal work. In an effort to circumvent the registration requirement and create the appearance that 

the shares of each company were issued only to Texas residents, Stocker directed the companies 

to issue the shares intended for his compensation to one of six Texas corporations or limited 

liability companies, five of which were controlled by Offill. In those five instances, Offill, a 

Texas attorney, used the Texas corporations and limited liability companies to hide Stocker's 

receipt of the shares from the companies. 

7. Offill participated in the sham transactions designed to evade the registration provisions 

by signing subscription agreements with each of the five companies and falsely representing that 

the entities he controlled were purchasing the shares to hold for investment. In fact, Offill's 

entities merely took title to the newly issued shares without paying for them, and then 

immediately transferred the shares to Curtis-Case, Inc., a Colorado corporation controlled by 

Stocker, and, in one instance, to entities controlled by Mullholand, Reynolds, or Steven P. 

Fischer ("Fischer"), for further distribution to the public. 



Case 3:07-w 
1643 Document 1 Filed 0912@007 Page 4 of 32 

8. Mullholand and Reynolds directed the six companies to issue shares to defendants 

Dissemination Services, L.L.C. ("Dissemination") or RSMR Capital Group, Inc. ("RSMR'?, as 

compensation for the consulting or underwriting services. Mullholand and Reynolds then 

offered and sold the shares to the public and induced their family, friends and others to purchase 

the shares. 

9. Mullholand, Reynolds, RSMR,and Dissemination each acted as unregistered broker- 

dealers by engaging in the business of undenniting public offerings and by inducing the 

purchase or sale of the securities of the six companies. 

10. ATN Enterprises, L.L.C. ("Am Enterprises"), a company owned by Fischer, received 

shares indirectly from three of the six companies in exchange for conducting promotional 

cknpaigns to create demand for investors to the purchase shares. ATN Enterprises and Fischer 

offered and sold the shares of three of the companies. Fischer paid approximately $1million of 

the proceeds from his stock sales to defendants Timothy B. Barham ('Barham") and Ballad 

Enterprises, Inc. as a finder's fee for introducing him to Mullhotand and Reynolds. 

11. Page directed two of the six companies to issue shares to him as compensation for 

consulting and underwriting services that he provided. Page then offered and sold the shares of 

the two companies through brokerage accounts ia his own name and the name of Page 

Properties, L.P ('Page Properties"). 

12. Page and Page Properties acted as unregistered broker-dealers by engaging in the 

business of underwriting public securities offerings. 

13. As a result of the conduct described in this Complaint, defendants Ofill, Stocker, 

Mullholand, Reynolds, Page, Fischer, Curtis-Case, RSMR, Dissemination, Page Properties, and 

ATN Enterprises offered and sold unregistered securities in violation of Section 5(a) and (c) of 
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the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act"), 15 U.S.C. 5 77e (a) and (c). Defendants 

Mullholand, Reynolds, Page, RSMR, Dissemination, and Page Properties acted as unregistered 

brokerdealers in violation of Section 15 (a)(l) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1933 

("Exchange Act'?, 15 U.S.C. 5 78o(a)(l). 

14. The Commission seeks a judgment against all Defendants permanently enjoining them 

ltom future violations of the federal securities laws, ordering them to disgorge d l  ill-gotten gains 

from the unlawful conduct alleged in this complaint plus prejudgment interest, and to pay civil 

monetary penalties for their violations pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. 

577t (d), and Section 21(d) (3) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. 78u (d) (3). The Commission 

further requests that the judgment prohibit all Defendants from participating in future penny 

stock offerings. The Commission also seeks a judgment ordering the Relief Defendants, 

Barham, Ballad Enterprises, Inc., and Bellatalia L.P., to disgorge funds received h m  the 

defendants' unregistered stock sales. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

15. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under the provisions of Section 22(a) of the 

Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. $ 7 7 ~  (a), and Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. $ 78aa. 

16. The Commission brings this action pursuant to authority conferred upon it by Section 

20fb) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. 6 77t @), and Section 21(d) ( I )  of the Exchange Act, 15 

U.S.C. 5 78u (d) (1). 

17. Defendants, directly and indirectly, singly or in concert, made use of the means and 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce, the means and instruments of transportation and 

communication in interstate commerce, or of the mails in connection with the acts, practices and 
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courses of conduct alleged in this Complaint, certain of which occurred withim the Northern 

District of Texas. 

18. Venue is proper in the Northern District of Texas pursuant to Section 22 of the Securities 

Act, 15 U.S.C. $77u(a), and Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15U.S.C. $ 78aa. Mullholand, 

Reynolds and Offill reside within the district, and RSMR, Dissemination, Page Properties, ATN 

Enterprises, Ballad Enterprises, and Bellatalia transacted business within this district. Stocker, 

Fisher, and Barham traveled to, and engaged in business transactions within, this district. 

Certain of the transactions, acts, practices and courses of business discussed below occurred 

within this district. 

19. Defendants unless restrained and enjoined by this Court will continue to engage in the 

transactions, acts, practices and courses of business as set forth in this complaint or in similar 

illegal transactions, acts, practices and courses ofbusiness. 

THE DEFENDANTS 

20. Phillip W. Oftif, Jr., age 48, is an attorney who lives in Dallas, Texas, and is admitted 

to the bar in Texas and Oklahoma. He was manager and member of two Texas limited liability 

companies named TGWSS Ventures, L.L.C., and Odyssey Contracting, L.L.C. At the request of 

Stocker, he created three Texas corporations, Steep Blue Holdings, Inc., Crimson City Holdings, 

Inc., and Classical Movement Holdings, Inc., and served as the sole oficer and director of each. 

21. David B. Stocker, age 47, is an attorney who lives in Phoenix, Arizona, and is admitted 

to the Arizona bar. Stocker is a sole practitioner specializing in securities law. 

22. Curtis-Case, Inc. is a Colorado co~poration with its principle place of business in 

Phoenix, Arizona. Stocker is the president and director of Curtis-Case, Inc. 

23. Shmne A. Mullholmnd, age 37, lives in Dallas, Texas. 
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24. Dissemination Services, L.L.C. is a Texas limited liability company with its principle 

place of business in Dallas, Texas. Mullholand is the sole managing member, who owned and 

operated Dissemination. However, Mullholand had a verbal agreement to split the profits of 

Dissemination equally with Reynolds. 

25. Ryan M.Reynolds, age 35, lives in Dallas, Texas. Reynolds is a former stock broker 

who was barred from the brokerage industry on January 21,2003. Reynolds was a member of 

and owned Veruschka L.L.C. and Vmschka Consulting L.L.C., which he converted to Bellatalia 

L.P. Reynolds' share of the profits ffom the unregistered stock sales by RSMR Capital Group, 

Inc. and Dissemination Services, L.L. C. were paid to Veruschka or Bellatalia. 

26. RSMR Capital Group, Inc. is a Nevada corporation with its principle place of business 

in Dallas, Texas. Mullholand and Reynolds are shareholders of and operate RSMR. 

27. Timothy T. Page, age 57, lives in Austin, Texas. Page is a citizen of Great Britain. 

28. Page Properties, L.P. is a Texas limited partnership. Page is the general partner and 

controlled the activities of Page Properties. 

29. Steven P. Fiscber, age 41, lives in Bonita Springs, Florida 

30. ATN Enterprises, L.L.C. is a Delaware limited liability company with its principle 

place of business in Bonita Springs, Florida Fischer is the managing member of ATN 

Enterprises. 

RELIEF DEFENDANTS 

31. Timothy B. Barham, age 39, lives in Henderson, Tennessee. 

32. Ballad Enterprises, Inc. is a Texas corporation with its principle place of business in 

Rockwall, Texas. Barham is the sole shareholder and operator of Ballad. 
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33. Bellatalia L.P. is a Texas limited partnership with its principle place of business in 

Dallas, Texas. Reynolds is one of the partners and operated Bellatalia. Bellatalia was formerly a 

Texas limited liability company known as Veruschka, L.L.C. or Veruschka Consulting, L.L.C. 

(referred to herein jointly as "Veruschka"). 

DEFENDANTS' SCHEME TO OFFER AND SELL UNREGISTERED STOCK 

34. Defendants acting in concert participated in a scheme or plan to complete at least six 

offerings in 2004, which are described below. All of the offerings described below were 

offerings of penny stocks, in that the each company's net tangible assets and average revenue 

were below the thresholds established under Exchange Act Rule 3a51-l(g), 17 C.F.R. 

240.3a51-l(g) (1993), and the securities traded at a price under $5 per share on all but a few days 

since they began trading. 

35. Stocker was introduced to each company by Page, Mullholand or Reynolds. Stocker 

obtained a CUSIP number and trading symbol for each company, which were necessary before 

the securities of the company could begin public trading. 

36. Stocker prepared subscription agreements for each of the six offerings, through which 

certain investors agreed to purchase stock from the issuers. RSMR, Dissemination, Page, and 

Offill entities appeared in one or more of these subscription agreements in the capacity of the 

initial investors, as described for each offering in more detail below. The subscription 

agreements represented that the initial investors were acquiring stock for investment purposes 

and not with a view to distribution and had no intention to sell the stock. In five of the six 

offerings, the subscription agreements also represented that the initial investors would hold their 

stock for at least 12 months, absent certain delineated but unanticipated changes of 

circumstances. In fact, RSMR, Dissemination, and Page intended to begin selling and did begin 
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selling their stock to the public almost immediately after they acquired the stock, as quickly as 

market conditions would allow. Offill through his entities transferred his stock to Stocker's 

control as quickly as possible, often signing transfer documents before the stock was issued, and 

Stocker intended to sell and did sell his stock to the public as quickly as market conditions would 

allow. 

37. Stocker also prepared corporate resolutions authorizing the issuance of shares of each 

company and opinion letters stating the shares were issued pursuant to Rule 504 of Regulation D, 

17 C.F.R. 5230.504. Stocker introduced the companies to transfer agents and prepared 

instructions to the transfer agent for the issuance of shares to the defendants. 

38. Stocker was compensated for his legal services by the issuance of shares by the 

companies. Stocker directed the companies to issue his shares to one of six Texas entities in 

order to hide his participation as a non-Texas resident in the offerings. Stocker's shares were 

immediately transferred h m  the Texas entity to Curtis-Case. 

39. Stocker had trading authority over brokerage accounts of Curtis-Case at three brokerage 

firms, Spencer Edwards Inc. in Englewood, Colorado, 1. Alexander Securities in Los Angeles, 

California, and SAMCO Financial Services, Inc. in Phoenix, Arizona. 

40. Stocker was a substantial participant in the offers and sales of the securities of the six 

companies mscussed below because he negotiated the terms of compensation for his legal 

services, twk possession of the stock certificates, using interstate commerce or the mails caused 

the certificates to be deposited into Curtis-Case's brokerage accounts, and ordered the brokerage 

firms to sell the securities. Stocker wire transferred proceeds from the sales of the securities to 

bank accounts in the name of Curtis-Case h m  which he paid expenses for his personal benefit. 
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41. Stocker and Curtis-Case were underwriters who received shares indirectly h m  the six 

companieswith a view to distribution of the shares in exchange for legal services provided to the 

companies, and who offered and sold the shares for the issuer in connection with a distribution of 

the shares. 

42. Offill was an underwriter who participated in the distributions by purchasing shares, 

through entities that he controlled, h m  five of the six companies with a view to offer and sell 

the shares to Curtis-Case or others in connection with the distribution of the company's shares to 

public investors. 

43. Mullholand and Reynolds had trading authority over the brokerage account of RSMR at 

Bishop Rosen & Co., a brokerage firm in New Yo*, New York, and five brokerage accounts of 

Dissemination at five brokerage firms, Bishop Rosen & Co., J. Alexander Securities in Los 

Angeles, California, WestPark Capital Inc. in Los Angeles, Califomia, Newbridge Securities in 

Fort Lauderdale, Florida, and Franklin Ross in Sarasota, Florida. 

44. Mullholand and Reynolds were substantial participants in the offer and sale of the 

securities of the six companies because they negotiated the terms of the offerings, took 

possession of the stock certificates, used interstate commerce or the mails to cause the stock 

certificates to be deposited into brokerage accounts, ordered the brokerage firms to offer and sell 

the securities, and induced other persons to purchase the shares. Mullholand placed most of the 

orders to sell securities in the brokerage accounts of Dissemination and RSMR. Reynolds 

occasionally placed some of the orders to sell. Actions performed by Mullholand were done 

with the knowledge of Reynolds and for the benefit of both Mullholand and Reynolds. Actions 

performed by Reynolds were done with the knowledge of Mullholand and for the benefit of both 

Mullholand and Reynolds. 
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45. M e r  paying expenses, Mulkoland and Reynolds split the profits h m  the securities 

sales by Dissemination and RSMR. From approximately March 26, through November, 4,2004, 

Mullholand transferred Reynolds' share of the profits h m  Dissemination of at least $3,090,550 

to Bellatalia L.P. or Veruschka LLC, and transferred his own share of the profits from 

Dissemination or RSMR of at least $3,068,100 to himself or Bach Investments, Inc., a Texas 

corporation that he owned. 

46. Dissemination, RSMR, Mullholand and Reynolds were underwriters who acquired shares 

directly or indirectly from the six companies with a view to offer or sell the shares for the 

compames in connecbon with the distribution of each company's shares. 

47. Page and Page Properties were underwriters who acquired shares directly or indirectly 

h m  two of the six companies with a view to offer or sell the shares for the compama in 

connection with the distribut~on of each company's shares. 

48. Page had trading authority over a brokerage account in his name at .I.Alexander 

Securities in Los Angeles, California and over the brokerage account of Page Properties at 

Bishop Rosen & Co. in New York, New York. 

49. Page ordered transactions in his own account and was a substantial participant in the 

offers and sales made by Page Properties. Page negotiated the terms of the offerings, took 

possession of the stock certificates, used interstate commerce or the mails to cause the stock 

certificatesto be deposited into brokerage accounts, and ordered the brokerage firms to offer and 

sell the securities. 

50. Fischer and ATN Enterprises were underwriters who acquired shares indirectly h m  

three of the companies with a view to offer or sell the shares for the companies in connection 

with the distribution of each company's shares. 
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51. Fischer had trading authority over the brokerage accounts of ATN Enterprises at J. 

Alexander Securities in Los Angeles, Califomia, Westpark Capital Inc. in Los Angeles, 

California, Newbridge Securities in Fort Lauddale, Florida, and Franklin Ross in Sarasota, 

Florida. 

52. Fischer was a substantial participant in the offers and sales made by ATN Enterprises. 

Fischer negotiated the terms of the compensation, took possession of the stock certificates, used 

interstate commerce or the mails to cause the stock certificates to be deposited into brokerage 

accounts, and ordered the brokerage firms to offer and sell the securities. 

1. American Television & Film Company Stock Offering 

53. In 2004, American Television & Film Company ("ATFT") was a Texas corporation 

with its principal place of business in Dallas, Texas. Thomas L. Habeeb ("Habeeb') was the 

president and a director of ATFT. 

54. In or about February 2004, Habeeb met with Reynolds and Mullholand to discuss ways to 

obtain financing for ATFT to produce low budget film and television programs. Reynolds and 

Mullholand agreed to raise up to $1 million for ATFT in exchange for ATFT issuing shares to 

companies owned by Mullholand and Reynolds. 

5 5 .  Reynolds and Mullholand introduced Habeeb to Stocker, who traveled h m  Phoenix, 

Arizona to Dallas, Texas to meet with them. Mullholand and Reynolds instructed Habeeb to use 

Stocker to prepare the paperwork for the shares of ATFT to be publicly traded. 

56. After the initial meeting, Habeeb communicated with Stocker by telephone regarding 

preparation of the documents necessary to issue ATFT securities. Stocker received instructions 

from Reynolds and Mullholand on the names of shareholders and the amount of ATET shares to 

be issued. 
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57. On or about March 29,2004, Stocker prepared corporate resolutions and subscription 

agreements that authorized the issuance of 9,200,000 ATFT shares in total to RSMR, 

Dissemination, and E Learning Systems, Inc. Stocker faxed the documents to Habeeb, and 

directed him to sign the agreements and return them by fax. The subscription agreements 

represented thatRSMR, Dissemination, and E Learning Systems had made full payment for the 

stock. In fact, RSMR had only paid $30,000 to ATFT. Dissemination and E Leaming Systems 

had paid no fundsto ATFT. 

58. On or about April 2,2004, Stocker faxed instructions to ATFT's transfer agent to issue 

6,000,000 shares to RSMR, 2,000,000 shares to Dissemination, and 1,200,000 shares to E 

Learning Systems. 

59. On or about April 5,2004, Stocker faxed instructions to the transfer agent requesting it to 

cancel E Learning Systems' certificate and reissue 400,000 of the 1,200,000 ATFT shares to 

Curtis-Case, Inc. The remaining shares were reissued in equal mounts to E Learning Systems 

and another company. The 400,000 ATFT shares issued to Curtis-Case represented part of 

Stocker's fee for legal work. 

60. On or about April 8,2004, Stocker deposited the certificate for 400,000 ATFT shares 

into Curtis-Case's brokerage account with Spencer Edwards Inc. 

61. Between April 8, and April 20,2004, Stocker offered and sold 400,000 ATFT shares 

from Curtis-Case's brokerage account at prices ranging &om$0.050 to $0.14 for proceeds of 

approximately $26,444. 

62. On or about April 8,2004, Mullholand and Reynolds deposited the certificate for 

6,000,000 ATFT shares into the brokerage account of RSMR with Bishop Rosen & Co. 
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63. On or about April 8,2004, Mullholand and Reynolds deposited the certificate for 

2,000,000 ATFT shares into Dissemination's brokerage account with WestPark Capital Inc. 

64. Between April 8, and 29,2004, Mullholand and Reynolds offered and sold 961,000 

shares of ATFT fiom Dissemination's brokerage account at prices ranging from $0.050 to $0.37 

for proceeds of approximately $160,651. 

65. Between April 14, and August 4,2004, Mullholand and Reynolds offered and sold 

2,153,198 ATFT shares from RMSR's brokerage account at prices ranging from $0.03 to $0.038 

for proceeds of approximately $130,750. 

66. No registration statement was filed or in effect for these offers and sales of ATFT shares 

by Mullholand and Reynolds through RSMR and Dissemination, or by Stocker through Curtis- 

Case. 

67. Mullholand and Reynolds advised their friends and family members when trading 

commenced, and induced them to purchase the ATFT stock that they and Stocker were selling. 

All of the ATFT stock that RSMR and Dissemination sold on April 8,2004 was purchased by 

friends and family members of Reynolds and Mullholand. Friends and family members 

accounted for over 65% of the total publicly reported purchase volume during the k t  four days 

of trading of ATFT stock, during which time the stockprice doubled to $0.10 per share. 

Reynolds, through his Veruschka account, purchased 125,000 shares of ATFT stock in market 

trades during April 2004 while he, Mullholand, and Stocker were selling. 

2. Ecogate, Inc. Stock Offering 

68. In 2004, Ecogate, Ine. ("Ecogate") was a California corporation with its principal place 

of business in Glendale, California. 
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69. In December 2003,Page entered into an agreement with Ecogate to raise money for the 

company through a public stock offering under Rule 504of Regulation D. Page contacted 

Stocker to prepare documents for the stock offering, and contacted Mullholand about 

Dissemination performing a market awareness campaign for the company. 

70. On or about April 28,2004,Stocker prepared corporate resolutions and subscription 

agreements that authorized the issuance of a total of 10,000,000Ecogate shares to TGWSS 

Ventures, LLC, Page, and Dissemination. 

71. On April 28,2004,Ecogate issued 750,000shares to TGWSS Ventures, LLC, a Texas 

limited liability company of which Offill was a member and manager. Ecogate issued 4,250,000 

shares to Page and 5,000,000shares to Dissemination on May 5,2004. The subscription 

agreements represented that TGWSS Ventures, Page and Dissemination had each made full 

payment for the stock. In fact, TGWSS Ventures paid nothing for the stock. Page and 

Dissemination had paid $42,500and $25,000respectively to Ecogate for the stock 

72. On May 7,2004,Stocker delivered to Ecogate's transfer agent the 750,000shares issued 

to TGWSS Ventures and a blank stock power signed by Offill along with Stocker's instructions 

to transfer all 750,000shares to Curtis-Case. Stocker instructed the transfer agent to send the 

750,000shares to Spencer Edwards Inc., and the stock was deposited into the brokerage account 

of Curtis-Case. 

73. Between May 10and June 14,2004,Stocker offered and sold the 750,000Ecogate shares 

through Curtis-Case's brokerage account for proceeds of approximately $79,221. 

74. Page deposited his 2,000,000Ecogate shares into a brokerage accounts in his own name 

at J. Alexander and in the name of Page Properties LP with Bishop Rosen & Co. 
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75. From May through December 2004, Page offered and sold approximately 1.7 million 

Ecogate shares from these accounts for proceeds of approximately $188,276. 

76. Dissemination deposited its 5,000,000 shares into its brokerage accounts at Bishop Rosen 

and J. Alexander. 

77. Between May and December, 2004, Mullholand and Reynolds offered and sold 4 million 

shares h m  the two brokerage accounts of Dissemination for proceeds of approximately 

$383,885. 

78. No registration statement was filed or in effect for these offers and sales of the Ecogate 

shares by Page and Page Properties, by Mullholand and Reynolds through the Dissemination 

account, or by Stocker through the Curtis-Case account. 

79. Mullholand and Reynolds advised their ftiends and family members when trading 

commenced, and induced them to purchase the Ecogate stock that they, Page, and Stocker were 

selling. Reynolds personally purchased 250,000 shares of Ecogate on May 7,2004. That 

purchase coincided with a sale by Dissemination, and was one of the first trades that ever 

occurred for Ecogate stock. Almost all of the Ecogate stock that Page and Dissemination sold on 

May 7,2004 was purchased by Reynolds or by fiiends and family members of Reynolds and 

Mullholand. Friends and family members accounted for over 74% of the total publicly reported 

purchase volume during the first five days of trading of Ecogate stock, during which time the 

stock price more than tripled h m  the initial $0.05 to $0.17 per share. 

3. Media International Concepts, Inc. Stock Offering 

80. In 2004, Media International Concepts, l n c  ("Media International") was aNevada 

corporation with its principal place of business in Los Angeles, California. 
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81. In February 2004, Page entered into an agreement with Media International to 

accomplish a public stock offering through Rule 504 of Regulation D. Page contacted Stocker to 

prepare documents for the stock offering and contacted Dissemination to perform market 

awareness. 

82. In May, 2004, Stocker prepared corporate resolutions and subscription agreements that 

authorized the issuance of a total of 10,000,000 Media International shares to Page, 

Dissemination, and Odyssey Contracting L.L.C.,a Texas limited liability company, of which 

Offill was a manager and member. Thesesubscription agreements represented that Odyssey 

Contracting, Page and Dissemination had made full payment for the stock. In fact, Odyssey had 

paid nothing, Page had paid only $25,000, and Dissemination paid nothing. 

83. On May 20,2004, Media International issued 750,000 shares to Odyssey Contracting, 

4,250,000 shares to Page, and 5,000,000 shares to Dissemination. 

84. On May 19,2004, Offill signed a document authorizing Odyssey contracting to transfer 

the 750,000 Media International shares. Offill also signed an undated stock power. Stocker 

delivered the Odyssey Contracting certificate for the 750,000 Media International shares along 

with the signed authorization and stock power to the transfer agent and instructed the transfer 

agent to transfer the 750,000 shares to Curtis-Case. 

85. Stocker deposited the 750,000 Media International shares into Curtis-Case's brokerage 

account at Spencer Edwards, Inc. 

86. Between May 25, and June 15,2004, Stocker sold the 750,000 shares through the Curtis- 

Case account at prices ranging h m  $0.045 to $0.10 for proceeds of approximately $48,000. 
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87. Page deposited 1,000,000 Media International shares into his brokerage account at J. 

Alexander and 1,000,000Media International shares into the brokerage account of Page 

Properties at Bishop Rosen & Co. 

88. Between May 26,2004, and January 15,2005, Page offered and sold approximately 

1,748,000Media International shares in the two accounts at prices ranging from $0.03 to $0.12 

for total proceeds of approximately $99,946. 

89. Mullholand and Reynolds deposited 5,000,000 Media International shares into two of 

Dissemination's brokerage accounts at Bishop Rosen & Co. and J. Alexander. 

90. Mullholand and Reynolds offered and sold approximately 991,000 shares from 

Dissemination's accounts at prices ranging from $0.03 to $0.13 for proceeds of approximately 

$73,716. 

91. Barham introduced Mullholand and Reynolds to Fischer and ATN Enterprises. Fischer 

agreed to pay a referral fee to Barham for all work that Fischer received from Mullholand and 

Reynolds. Fischer paid such fees out of the sales proceeds from the three offerings that Fischer 

worked on with Mullholand and Reynolds (Media International, Auction Mills, and CDC). The 

total payments from Fischer and ATN Enterprisesto Barham and Ballad Enterprises, Inc 

exceeded $1,000,000. 

92. On or about June 3,2004, Dissemination transferred 2 million Media International sham 

to ATN Enterprises to pay for a market awareness campaign to create demand for the purchase 

of Media International shares. 

93. Between June 9, and September 24,2004, Fischer offered and sold approximately 1.7 

million Media International shares through ATN Enterprises' brokerage account at prices 

ranging from $0.015 to $0.08 for proceeds of approximately $61,933. 
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94. No registration statement was filed or in effect for these offers and sales of the Media 

International shares by Page and Page Properties, by Mullholand and Reynolds through the 

Dissemination account, by Fischer through the ATN Enterprises account, or by Stocker through 

the Curtis-Case account. 

95. Mullholand and Reynolds advised their friends and family members when trading 

commenced, and induced them to purchase Media International shares that Dissemination, Page, 

Fischer and Stocker were selling. They offered their Media International stock to the public 

through quotations on the Pink Sheets entered on their orders by broker-dealers. Public offers 

and sales began on May 25,2004. Reynolds personally purchased 200,000 shares of Media 

International on May 25,2004. That purchase was the second trade overall for Media 

International stock. Page, Dissemination, and Curtis-Case sold shares at $0.05 to $0.07 on the 

first day and constituted the commencement of a public market for Media International stock. 

Almost all of the Media International stock that Page and Dissemination sold on May 25,2004 

was purchased by Reynolds or by friends and family members of Reynolds and Mullholand. 

Reynolds purchased another 70,000shares on May 27 and 28,2004. Friends and family 

members accounted for over 93% of the total publicly reported purchase volume during the first 

five days of trading of Media International stock, during which time the stock price tripled kom 

the initial $0.05 to $0.15per share. 

4. Vanquish Productions, I n c  Stock Offering 

96. In 2004, Vanquish Productions, Inc. ("Vanquish") was a Texas corporation with its 

principal place of business in Dallas, Texas. Aaron Cain McKnight ("McKnight"') was the 

founder and president of Vanquish. 
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97. In or about April or May 2004, McKnight met with Mullholand and Reynolds and they 

agreed to raise up to $1 million for Vanquish through a public stock offering. 

98. Mullholand and Reynolds introduced Stocker to McKnight and instructed McKnight to 

use Stocker to prepare the paperwork for the shares of the company to be publicly traded. 

99. On or about June 3,2004, Offill incorporated Steep Blue Holdings, Inc. ("Steep Blue") as 

a Texas corporation at the request of Stocker. Offill was the president, sole officer, and director. 

100. On or about June 3,2004, Stocker prepared corporate resolutions and subscription 

agreements that authorized the issuance in total of 4,350,000 Vanquish shares to Steep Blue, 

R S m and Dissemination in exchange for $232,500. Stocker faxed the agreements to McKnight 

and he signed them. The subscription agreements represented that RSMR,Dissemination, and 

Steep Blue had made full payment for the stock. In fact RSMR,Dissemination, and Steep Blue 

had paid nothing for their stock. 

101. On or about June 7,2004, Offill, acting as the president of Steep Blue, signed a document 

authorizing Steep Blue to transfer 500,000 Vanquish shares to an unnamed person or entity. 

Offill also signed a blank and undated stock power. 

102. On June 8,2004, Vanquish issued 1,350,000 shares to RSMR, 2,500,000 shares to 

Dissemination, and 500,000 shares to Steep Blue. On that same day, Stocker delivered Steep 

Blue's certificate for 500,000 Vanquish shares along with the authorization and stock power 

signed by Offill to Vanquish's transfer agent which then transferred the 500,000 shares to Curtis- 

Case. 

103. Stocker deposited the 500,000 Vanquish shares into two Curtis-Case brokerage accounts 

at J. Alexander Securities and Spencer Edwards. 
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104. Between June 9, and June 14,2004, Stocker directed the brokers for Curtis-Case to offer 

and sell the 500,000 Vanquish shares at prices that ranged from $0.15 to $0.23 for proceeds of 

approximately $74,467. 

105. RSMR and Dissemination deposited their stock certificates into brokerage accounts at 

Bishop Rosen & Co. and WestPark Capital Inc. 

106. Between June 10, and June 15,2004, Mullholand and Reynolds offered and sold 460,700 

Vanquish shares fiom Dissemination's account for proceeds of approximately $91,852. 

107. Between June 10, and August 12,2004, Mullholand and Reynolds offered and sold 

192,600 Vanquish shares h m  RMSR's account for proceeds of approximately $20,452. 

108. No registration statement was filed or in effect for these offers and sales of the Vanquish 

shares by Mullholand and Reynolds through the RSMR and Dissemination accounts, or by 

Stocker through the Curtis-Case account. 

109. Mullholand and Reynolds advised their friends and family members when trading 

commenced, and induced them to purchase the Vanquish stock that they, Stocker, and others 

who obtained stock fiom Vanquish were selling. Almost all of the Vanquish stock that Curtis- 

Case sold on June 9,2004 was purchased by friends and family members of Reynolds and 

Mullholand. Friends and family members accounted for 72% of the total publicly reported 

purchase volume during the first four days of trading of Vanquish stock, during which time the 

stock price increased by approximately 75% from the initial price of $0.15 to $0.265. During 

June 2004, Reynolds, personally and through his Veruschka account, purchased 147,000shares 

of Vanquish in market kades at the same time that he, Mullholand, and Stocker were selling 

Vanquish shares, and another 508,000 shares in July, before additional sales in August. 
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5. Auction Mills, Inc. Stock Offering 

110. In 2004, Auction Mills, Inc. ("Auction Mills") was a Texas corporation with its principal 

place of business in Dallas, Texas. Jason Brola ("Brola") and Michael J. Uskovich ("Uskovich") 

were the founders and initial officers and directors of Auction Mills. 

11 1. In May 2004, Brola and Uskovich met with Reynolds and Mullholand tb discuss 

financing for their business plan to open eBay dropoff stores. Reynolds and Mullholand agreed 

to raise up to $1 million through a public stock offering to launch the business of Auction Mills. 

1 12. On or about June 3,2004, Offill incorporated Crimson City Holdings, Inc. ("Crimson 

City"), as a Texas corporation at the request of Stocker. Offill was the president, sole officer, 

and director of Crimson City. 

113. On or about June 23,2004, Stocker prepared corporate resolutions and subscription 

agreements that authorized Crimson City, RSMR, and Dissemination to purchase a total of 

4,500,000 Auction Mills shares for $180,000. The subscription agreements represented that and 

Crimson City, Dissemination, and RSMR had made full payment for the shares. In fact, only 

Dissemination had paid Auction Mills the $25,000 as represented. RSMR and Crimson City had 

paid nothing for their shares. . . .. 
114. On June 28,2004, Offill, acting as the president of Crimson City, signed a document 

authorizing the transfer of 500,000 shares of Auction Mills shares to an unnamed person or 

entity. Offill also signed a blank and undated stock power. 

115. On July 8,2004, Auction Mills issued 500,000 shares to Crimson City, 1,500,000 shares 

to RSMR,and 2,500,000 shares to Dissemination. 
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116. Stocker delivered the Crimson City's stock certificate for the 500,000 Auction Mills 

shares along with the authorization and stock power signed by Offill to Auction Mills' transfer 

agent and instructed the transfer agent to transfer the 500,000 shares to Curtis-Case. 

117. Stocker deposited the 500,000 shares into a Curtis-Case account at J. Alexander. 

118. Stocker offered and sold the 500,000 Auction Mills shares from the account of Curtis- 

Case, which all sold on the first day of trading at $0.10 per share for proceeds of approximately 

$49,000. 

119. On or about July 15,2004, Stocker prepared and delivered to Auction Mills' transfer 

agent subscription agreements authorizing Crimson City and RSMR to purchase additional 

shares. 

120. On or about July 15,2004, Auction Mills issued an additional 200,000 shares to Crimson 

City, and additional shares to RSMR in the name of its broker-dealer: 1,665,000 shares issued on 

July 14,2004,1,050,000 shares issued on July 15,2004, and 450,000 shares issued on July 28, 

2004. 

121. On July 13,2004, two days before the stock was issued, Offill, acting as the president of 

Crimson City, signed a document authorizing the transfer the 200,000 shares of Auction Mills to 

an unnamed person or entity. Offill also signed an undated stock power. 

122. Stocker delivered the Crimson City stock certificate for 200,000 Auction Mills shares 

along with the signed authorization and stock power to the transfer agent and instructed the 

transfer agent to transfer the 200,000 shares to Curtis-Case. 

123. Stocker deposited the 200,000 shares into a Curtis-Case account at Spencer Edwards Inc. 

and sold all of them on July 16 and 19,2004 for proceeds of approximately $159,000. 
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124. RSMR deposited the 4,665,000 Auction Mills shares into its brokerage account with 

Bishop Rosen & Co. 

125. From on or about July 12, through September 20,2004, Mullholand and Reynolds 

offered and sold approximately 4,665,000 Auction Mills shares from the brokerage account of 

RMSR at prices ranging from $0.10 to $2.40 for proceeds of approximately $3,990,117. 

126. Mullholand and Reynolds deposited the 2,500,000 Auction Mills shares into 

Dissemination's brokerage accounts at Newbridge Securities and J. Alexander. 

127. On July 9,2004, Mullholand and Reynolds offered and sold 132,500 Auction Mills 

shares from Dissemination's account at J. Alexander at $0.10 per share for proceeds of , 

approximately $12,973. Dissemination transferred $12,242 of the proceeds to Curtis-Case. 

128. From on or about July 14, through October 31,2004, Mullholand and Reynolds offered 

and sold approximately 2,362,500 Auction Mills shares (split adjusted) from the brokerage 

account of Dissemination at prices ranging from $0.214 to $1.08 for proceeds of approximately 

$2,694,260. 

129. On or about July 8,2004, Mullholand authorized the brokerage account of Dissemination 

to transfer 2,000,000 Auction Mills shares to ATN Enterprises to pay for a market awareness 

campaign to create demand for the purchase of Auction Mills shares. 

130. During July 2004, Fischer offered and sold the 2,000,000 Aucbon Mills shares from the 

brokerage accounts of ATN Enterprises at Newbridge Securities and WestPark Capital, Inc. at 

prices ranging from $.798 to $2.651 for proceeds of approximately $3,038,918. 

131. No registration statement was filed or in effect for these offers and sales of the Auction 

Mills shares by Mullholand and Reynolds through the RSMR and Dissemination accounts, by 

Stocker through the Curtis-Case accounts, or by Fischer through ATN Enterprises accounts. 

24 
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132. Mullholand and Reynolds advised their fiends and family members when trading 

commenced, and induced them to purchase the Auction Mills stock that they, Stocker, Fischer 

and others who obtained stock from Auction Mills were selling. Almost all of the Auction Mills 

stock that Curtis-Case and Dissemination sold on July 9,2004 was purchased by friendsand 

family members of Reynolds and Mullholand. Friends and family members accounted for 64% 

of the total publicly reported purchase volume during the first three days of trading of Auction 

Mills stock, during which time the stock price tripled from the initial price of $0.10 to $0.30. 

Reynolds, through his Veruschka account, purchased 30,000 shares of Auction Mills stock as 

one of the first purchasers on July 9,2004. Reynolds continued to buy and sell Auction Mills 

stock through his personal and Veruschka accounts during July through September, 2004, while 

he, Mullholand, Fischer, and Stocker were selling. 

6. Custom Designed Compressor Systems, Inc. Stock Offering 

133. In 2004, Custom Designed Compressor Systems, Inc. ("CDC") was a Delaware 

corporation with its principal place of business in Bloomfield, New Mexico. Shelby Ball 

("Ball") was a founder and initial president of CDC. 

134. During the summer of 2004, Ball met with Reynolds, Mullholand, and Fischer in Dallas, 

Texas to discuss financing CDC's business plan to provide compressors for use in natural gas 

production. Reynolds and Mullholand agreed to raise up to $1 million to launch the business of 

CDC and take the company public. 

135. Mullholand introduced Ball to Stocker, and instructed him to use Stocker to prepare the 

paperwork for the shares of CDC to be publicly traded. 

136. Ball communicated with Stocker by telephone to complete the necessary paperwork. 
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137. On or about July 20,2004, Offill incorporated Classical Movement Holdings, Inc. 

("Classical Movement Holdigs"), as a Texas corporation at the request of Stocker. Offill was 

the president, sole officer, and director of Classical Movement. 

138. On or about September 2,2004, Stocker prepared a subscription agreement authorizing 

Classical Movement Holdings to purchase 8,250,000 CDC shares for $82,500. The subscription 

agreement asserted that Classical Movement Holdings had made fullpayment for the stock. In 

fact, Classical had paid CDC nothing for the stock. 

139. On that same day, Offill, acting as the president of Classical Movement Holdings, signed 

a document authorizing the transfer of the 8,250,000 CDC shares to an unnamed person or entity. 

140. On September 21,2004, CDC issued 8,250,000 shares to Classical Movement Holdings, 

Inc. On the same day, Stocker delivered the Classical Movement Holdings authorization to the 

transfer agent, and directed the transfer agent to transfer 500,000 shares to Curtis-Case, 

2,500,000 shares to ATN Enterprises, 2,500,000 shares to Dissemination, 1,250,000 shares to a 

broker-dealer for the benefit of RSMR, and the balance of 1,500,000 shares to David B. Stocker 

IOLTA account. Stocker transferred the IOLTA shares to RSMR on September 24,2004. 

141. Stocker deposited 500,000 CDC shares into Curtis-Case's brokerage account at J. 

Alexander and then transfelred part of the shares to SAMCO Financial Services. 

142. Between September 23, and October 26,2004, Stocker offered and sold approximately 

120,937 CDC shares (split adjusted) fiom the Curtis-Case brokerage accounts at J. Alexander 

and SAMCO Financial Services at prices ranging from $2.50 to $5.25 for proceeds of 

approximately $439,017. 

143. RSMR deposited its 2,750,000 CDC sharesinto its brokerage account with Bishop Rosen 

& Co. 
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144. Between September and November 2004, Mullholand and Reynolds offered and sold 

approximately 870,000 CDC shares (split adjusted) from RMSR's brokerage account at prices 

ranging from $0.40 to $5.47 for proceeds of approximately $2,118,564. 

145. ATN Enterprises deposited its CDC shares into its brokerage accounts. 

146. Between September 24, and October 8,2004, Fischer offered and sold 2.5 million CDC 

shares (split adjusted) from ATN Enterprises' brokerage account at prices ranging from $0.10 to 

$5.35 for proceeds of approximately $2,558,201. 

147. No registration statement was filed or in effect for these offers and sales of the CDC 

shares by Mullholand and Reynolds through the RSMR accounts, by Stocker through the Curtis- 

Case account, or by Fischer through ATN Enterprises accounts. 

148. Mullholand and Reynolds advised their friends and family members when trading 

commenced, and induced them to purchase the CDC shares that they, Stocker, and Fischer were 

selling. RSMR, ATN Enterprises, and Curtis-Case offered their CDC stock to the public through 

quotations on the Pink Sheets entered on their orders by broker-dealers. Public offers and sales 

began on September 24,2004 with sales by RSMR, and ATN Enterprises also made sales on the 

first day of trading. Curtis-Case began selling on the third trading day, September 28,2004. 

Friends and family members accounted for 64% of the total publicly reported purchase volume 

' during the first three days of trading of CDC stock, during which time the stock price quintupled 

from the initial price of $0.50 to $2.50. Reynolds, personally and through his Veruschka 

account, purchased 27,100 shares of CDC stock on September 27 and 29,2004 and made 

additional purchases in October while he, Mullholand, Fisher, and Stocker were selling. 
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149. On or about September 28,2004, Stocker directed the bank account of Curtis-Case to 

wire transfer $249,985 to the trustaccount of the law firm where Offill worked as payment for 

Offill's services, including incorporating the three Texas corporations. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Offer and Sale of Unregistered Securities 


in Violation of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act 


150. Paragraphs 1through 149 are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference. 

151. The shares of ATFT, Ecogate, Media International, Vanquish, Auction Mills, and CDC' 

that the defendants offered and sold to public investors are "securities" as that term is defined in 

Section 2(a)(l) of the Securities Act and Section 2(10) the Exchange Act, 15 U.S. C. $5  

77b(a)(l) and 78@)(10). 

152. Stocker, Offill, Curtis-Case, Mullholand, Reynolds, RSMR,Dissemination, Page, Page 

Properties, Fischer, and ATN Enterprises, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, made use of 

the means or instntments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or of the 

mails to sell securities through the use or medium of a prospectus or otherwise, or caused to be 

carried through the mails or in interstate commerce by any means or instruments of 

transportation, securities for the purpose of sale or for delivery after sale when no registration 

statement was in effect as to those securities. 

153. Stocker, Offill, Curtis-Case, Mullholand, Reynolds, RSMR, Dissemination, Page, Page 

Properties, Fischer, and ATN Enterprises, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, made use of 

the means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or of the 

mails to offer to sell or offer to buy securities through the use or medium of a prospectus or 

otherwise, when no registration statement had been filed for those securities. 
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154. By reason of the foregoing conduct Stocker, Offill, Curtis-Case, Mullholand, Reynolds, 

RSMR,Dissemination, Page, Page Properties, Fischer, and ATN Enterprises have each violated 

and, unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to violate Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the 

Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. $8 77e(a) and 77e(c). 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Acting As an Unregistered Broker-Dealers 


in Violation of Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act 


155. Paragraphs 1 through 149 are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference. 

156. In connection with their offer and sale of the securities of one or more of the six 

companies discussed above, Mullholand, Reynolds, RSMR, Dissemination, Page, and Page 

Properties acted asbrokers or dealers engaged in the regular business of effecting transactions in 

securities for the account of others, or buying and selling securities for their own accounts. 

Mullholand, Reynolds, RSMR, Dissemination, Page, and Page Properties made use of the mails 

or the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce to effect transactions in, or to induce or 

attempt to induce the purchase or sale of securities while they were not registered with the 

Commission as a broker-dealer or associated with a broker-dealer. 

157. By reason of the conduct described in paragraphs 155 and 156, Defendants Mullholand, 

Reynolds, Page, RSMR, Dissemination, Page, and Page Properties, have each violated and, 

unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to violate Section 15(a)(l) of the Exchange Act, 15 

U.S.C. 5 78o(a)(l). 

THIRD CLAIM FUR RELIEF 

Unjust Enrichment of Relief Defendants 


158. Paragraphs I through 149 are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference. 

159. Barham, Ballad Enterprises and Bellatalia obtained h d s  as part, and in furtherance of 

the securities violations alleged above, and under those circumstances it is not just, equitable or 
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conscionable for them to retain the funds. Barham, Ballad Enterprises and Bellatalia were 

unjustly enriched. 

160. By reason of the conduct described above in paragraphs 158 though 199, Barham, Ballad 

Enterprises and Bellatalia should be ordered to disgorge the funds they received as a result of the 

defendants' violations of the federal securities laws. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Commission respecffilly requests that the Court: 

I. 

Find that the Defendants, and each of them, committed the violations alleged. 

11. 

Enter an Order of Permanent Injunction as to each defendant, in a form consistent with 

Rule 65(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, enjoining each defendant from further 

violations of the provisions of law and rules alleged in this complaint. 

111. 

Enter an Order requiring the defendants and relief defendants to prepare an accounting of 

the proceeds they obtained from the offers and sales of the six companies described above. 

IV. 

Enter an Order requiring defendants to disgorge all ill-gotten gains resulting from their 

participation in the conduct described above, including prejudgment and post judgment interest. 

v. 

Enter an Order requiring all defendants to pay third-tier civil penalties pursuant to 

Section 20(d) of the Securities Act and Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. 55 

77t(d) and 78u(d)(3). 
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VI. 

Enter an Order barring all defendants from participating in any offering of penny stock 

pursuant to Section 20(g) of the Securities Act and Section 21 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. $5 

77t(g) and 78u(d)(6). 

VII. 

Enter an Order requiring Barham, Ballad Enterprises, and Bellatalia to disgorge funds 

that they received that were the proceeds of illegal activities of other defendants. 

VIII. 

Grant such further equitable relief as this Court deems appropriate and necessary. 

Dated: September 25,2007 
Respectllly submitted, 

Attorney for the United States 
Securities and Exchange Commission 
Denver Regional Office 
1801 California Street, Suite 1500 
Denver, CO 80202-2656 
Telephone: 303-844-1000 
Fax:303-844-1068 
E-mail: Hu&esLJ@.sec.gov 
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